Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1929

Patrick Sullivan and Elizabeth Sullivan v. John G. Condas : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

John G. Condas, (recalled)	
R. G. Heath	
Dismissal of Law Action	

FOR SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

1.

Plaintiffs allege and adopt and incorporate herein in this cause of action all of the allegations of paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 of the first cause of action herein in this complaint set forth.

That during the spring and fall of the year 1926 the defendant again, with sheep belonging to the defendant in the same approximate number and kind as set forth in the plaintiffs first cause of action herein, came to, on, over, across and upon the aforesaid lands of the plaintiffs and with his said sheep took, ate up, trampled down, and destroyed, all of the feeds growing upon the lands of the plaintiffs in like manner as was done by the defendant as set forth in plaintiffs' first cause of action herein, that is to say, the defendant as set forth in plaintiffs first cause of action herein, that is to say, the defendant then and there did against the will of, over the protest of, and without the consent of the plaintiffs, and in utter wanton, wilfull and malicious disregard of the rights of plaintiffs in the premises.

3.

That by reason of the aforesaid acts of the

defendant the plaintiffs have been damaged in the sum of not less than Two Hundred Twenty Dollars and eighty cents (\$220.80), said sum being and representing a reasonable rental value of said lands for the purpose of grazing during the seasons of the year aforesaid, together with interest at the rate of 8 per cent per annum from the 1st day of October 1926 to the date of verification of this complaint.

FOR THE THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION.

1.

Plaintiffs refer to, and adopt, and incorporate all of the allegations of paragraphs One, two, three, four and five of the first cause of action of plaintiffs herein in this action set forth.

2.

That during the spring and fall of the year 1927 the defendant, in like manner, again maliciously, wantonly, wilfully, and in total disregard of the plaintiffs in the premises and without consent of, and against the will of, and over the protests of plaintiffs and with approximately five thousand six hundred head of ewes and five thousand head of lambs, and with the horses, camps, wagons, men, and employees, and complete outfits of said defendant came on, into, over, and across the said lands of plaintiff and thereby ate up, trampled down, and destroyed the feeds, grasses and vendure then and there growing upon the lands of plaintiffs' as aforesaid.

That by reason of aforesaid wanton, and wilfull coming upon the lands of plaintiffs by defendant with his sheep as aforesaid the plaintiffs have been damaged in the sum of not less than Two bundred and four Dollars (204.00) said sum being and representing the amount of damage done to plaintiffs without interest.

FOR THE FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION.

1.

Plaintiffs adopt, and incorporate herein all of the allegations of paragraphs: One, two, three and four of plaintiffs first cause of action herein this action set forth.

2.

That the defendant in the year 1926 during the fall of said year came on to, and across an old, almost obliterated wagon road running across the lands of plaintiff herein described and near to and over his own lands aforesaid, and to and from his herds of sheep aforesaid along said roadway and over and across lands of plaintiffs' without the consent of, over the protest of and against the will of the plaintiffs and in so doing as aforesaid and said defendant tore down, laid aside and destroyed a part of the fence belonging to plaintiffs. Said fence at said time then and there belonging to the plaintiffs and enclosing part of the lands of the plaintiffs.

3.

That at said time the cattle then and there owned by the plaintiffs were being by plaintiffs grazed and pastured on and within their said lands enclosed by fence aforesaid.

4.

That by reason of wantonly, maliciously, and wilfully letting down and destroying of the part of the fence of the plaintiffs' as herein aforesaid by the defendant the cattle of the plaintiffs' herein aforesaid went out of and escaped from the enclosure of the plaintiffs aforesaid and went on to and upon the lands then and there belonging to William Archibald, whereupon said William Archibald seized and held the said cattle of the plaintiffs for the damages done to the lands of the said William Archibald by the said cattle of the plaintiffs and that to recover back their said cattle these plaintiffs were required and did pay to said William Archibald the sum of (\$25.00) Twenty-five Dollars, claimed by Archibald as aforesaid and that said sum of \$25.00 represented the reasonable damage done to the lands of said Archibald by the said cattle of the said plaintiffs.

5.

That the plaintiffs have been thereby as herein aforesaid damaged in the sum of \$27.00 by reason of the aforesaid wilful, wanton, and malicious letting down and destroying of the fence of the plaintiffs by the defendant as herein aforesaid, said sum being, and representing said \$25.00 paid by the plaintiffs together with interest thereon at the rate of 8 per cent, per annum to the time the verification of this complaint.

XI.

FOR THE FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION.

1.

Plaintiffs adopt, refer to, and incorporate herein all of the allegations of paragraphs One, two, three, four and five of plaintiffs' first cause of action herein in this complaint set forth.

2.

That on and across the lands of plaintiff herein described and on and across the lands of the defendant herein mentioned there is an old wornout, unused, except by the defendant for the three years last past, a roadway or wagon tracks, but that such roadway or track has not been used by anyone other than the plaintiffs, and the defendant for more than twenty years last previous to the year 1924 nor has such roadway been so used by the defendant herein for a period greater than four years last past and that said roadway or trail is not a county or State Highway, nor is the same a public Highway in any degree at all, nor has it ever been such.

3.

That the plaintiffs use and operate their lands herein mentioned as a dairy ranch, and keep thereon dairy cows, calves, and milk the said cows and sell the dairy products therefrom and that said lands are essential and necessary for the plaintiffs for the feed and grazing of their said cattle, and have been such for and during all of the times herein in this complaint mentioned. That during the spring and fall of each year prior to hay and grain growing seasons, subsequent to the harvest season thereon the plaintiffs use, or attempt to use their lands aforesaid to graze their said cattle as aforesaid, but have been for a number of years deprived of the same in the use thereof by the defendant as in this complaint set forth.

5.

Plaintiffs are informed and believe and therefore allege that the defendant has come into, and upon the lands of plaintiffs' as in this complaint set forth under a pretended and fictious, and known to be void, and without merit claim to the aforesaid roadway, or trail, as right of way belonging to the defendant for the crossing of the lands of the plaintiffs with his sheep and outfits as herein above set forth in this complaint.

6.

That the plaintiffs greatly fear and are justly and reasonably apprehensive that the defendant will continue to so claim said void and unmeritorious purported claim of right-of-way and will in the future come into, and across the aforesaid lands of the plaintiffs' and will thereby do and continue to do irreparable damage to the plaintiffs and their lands aforesaid, unless the defendant be by this court enjoined from so doing.

7.

That the plaintiffs are without any plain, speedy or adequate remedy at law in the premises.

WHEREFORE, the plaintiff prays that judgment and decree of this court be entered in favor of the plaintiffs and against defendant as follows, to-wit:

In satisfaction of the plaintiffs' first cause of action requiring the defendant to pay to the plaintiff the sum of \$237.00, togehter with interest thereon at the rate of 8 per cent, per annum from the date of verification of this complaint until paid.

In satisfaction of the plaintiffs' second cause of action requiring the defendant to pay to plaintiffs the sum of \$220.80 together with interest thereon at the rate of 8 per cent. per annum thereon from the date of verification of this complaint until paid.

In satisfaction of plaintiffs third cause of action requiring the defendant to pay to plaintiffs the sum of \$204.60 together with interest

thereon at the rate of 8 per cent per annum from the date of verification of this complaint until paid.

In satisfaction of plaintiffs' fourth cause of action requiring the defendant to pay to plaintiffs the sum of \$27.00 together with interest thereon at the rate of 8 per cent. per annum.

VI.

In satisfaction of plaintiffs' fifth cause of action that the said defendant be by this court permanently enjoined from coming, into, upon, over or across, the lands of plaintiffs in this complaint described, or any part thereof, without first having obtained the consent of the plaintiffs thereto in writing.

In further satisfaction to plaintiffs that the defendant be required to pay to plaintiffs as exemplary damages the sum of One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00.)

And further requiring the defendant to pay to plaintiffs the costs, and expenses by plaintiffs herein in this cause expended.

> HATCH and HATCH, Attorneys for Plaintiffs.

By Edwin D. Hatch.

STATE OF UTAH COUNTY OF SALT LAKE

Patrick Sullivan being first duly sworn on his oath says that he is one of the plaintiffs' in the above entitled action that he has read and knows the contents thereof, and that the same is true of his own knowledge, except as to such matters as are set forth on information and belief, and that on such matters he verily believes same to be true.

Patrick Sullivan.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 7th day of October, A. D. 1927.

> Edwin D. Hatch. Notary Public.

(Seal)

Residence: Salt Lake City, Utah. My commission expires November 20, 1930.

(Title of Court and Cause).

AMENDED ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIM

Comes now the said defendant, and leave of Court being first had and obtained, makes this

SS.

his Answer and Counterclaim to the Complaint of the plaintiffs on file herein.

1. The defendant denies each and every allegation contained in the first paragraph of the of the First Cause of Action in said Complaint.

2. Defendant admits the allegations contained in the second paragraph of said First Cause of Action.

3. The defendant admits that he is the owner of certain lands in White Pine Canyon, Summit County, State of Utah.

4. The defendant denies each and every allegation contained in the fourth paragraph of the First Cause of Action in said Complaint.

5. The defendant denies each and every allegation contained in the fifth paragraph of the First Cause of Action in said Complaint.

6. The defendant denies each and every allegation contained in the sixth paragraph of the First Cause of Action in said Complaint.

7. The defendant denies each and every allegation contained in the seventh paragraph of the First Cause of Action in said Complaint.

8. Answering the Second Cause of Action al-

leged in said complaint, the defendant denies each and every allegation contained in the incorporated paragraphs thereof numbered 1, 3, 4 and 5, and admits that the defendant is the owner of and operating range sheep, and also admits that the defendant is the owner of certain lands in White Pine Canyon, Summit County, Utah.

9. Answering the second and third paragraphs of said Second Cause of Action, the defendant denies each and every allegation therein contained.

10. Answering the Third Cause of Action alleged in said Complaint, the defendant denies each and every allegation contained in the incorporated paragraphs thereof numbered 2, 3, 4, and 5, and admits that the defendant is the owner of and operating range sheep, and also admits that the defendant is the owner of certain lands in White Pine Canyon, Summit County, Utah.

11. Answering the second and third paragraphs of said Third Cause of Action, the defendant denies each and every allegation therein contained.

12. Answering the Fifth Cause of Action alleged in said Complaint, the defendant denies each and every allegation contained in the incorporated paragraphs thereof numbered 1, 3, 4 and 5, and admits that the defendant is the owner of and operating range sheep, and also admits that the defendant is the owner of certain lands in White Pine Canyon, Summit County, Utah.

13. Further answering said Fifth Cause of Action in said Complaint defendant denies each and every allegation contained in paragraphs numbered respectively 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 in said Fifth Cause of Action.

14. For a further answer and defense to said Fifth Cause of Action the defendant alleges that he is the owner, entitled to the possession and in possession of certain lands in White Pine Canyon, Summit County, State of Utah, and that various other persons are the owners of other tracts of land in said canyon, both above, below, and adjoining the said lands owned by this defendant. That there is now and has been for more than sixty years past, a well traveled road up said White Pine Canyon, branching from the main State Highway and running through and beyond the said lands of the defendant and through the lands owned in said canyon by said other persons. That said road is a public highway and has been used continuously by the defendant and by his predecessors in interest and by the aforesaid owners of land in said White Pine Canyon and vicinity and by the public generally, and especially by the residents of Park City and of Summit County, State of Utah, for more than sixty years past. That the defendant does claim the right to use said road for ingress to and egress from his said land in White Pine Canyon. That said road runs through a portion of the tract of land described in the first paragraph of the plaintiff's complaint herein, and is the same road as the road referred to in the Fifth Cause of Action of said Complaint.

15. Further answering, the defendant alleges that the said road referred to in paragraph 14 of this Amended Answer was at the time of the commencement of this action a public highway by prescription and by having been used continuously, openly, notoriously and under a claim of right by the public generally and by the defendant and by his predecessors in interest for more than twenty years.

16. Further answering, the defendant alleges that he has invested more than Sixty Five Hundred (\$6500.00) Dollars in purchasing lands and improvements, including a dwelling house, and in making improvements on said land so purchased by him in said White Pine Canyon. That said lands comprise Thirteen Hundred Sixty Six (1366) acres and that the sole and only means of ingress to and egress from said lands and improvements and said dwelling house, owing to the topography of the country, is over the said road described in paragraph 14 of this Amended Answer, and that said road is absolutely necessary to the proper enjoyment by the defendant of his lands, improvements and dwelling house in said White Pine Canyon, and said defendant will suffer irreparable damage if he is deprived of the free use of said road for all purposes.

17. Further answering, the defendant alleges that the said plaintiffs and their predecessors in interest in the lands described in the first paragraph of plaintiff's Complaint herein, which lands plaintiffs claim they own, but which claim of ownership defendant denies, with full knowledge thereof permitted and acquiesced in the free use of said road described in paragraph 14 of this Amended Answer by the public generally and by the defendant and his predecessors in interest in driving livestock over said road and in using said road for all kinds of vehicular traffic and that said plaintiffs and their predecessors in interest with full knowledge thereof permitted and acquiesced in the free use of said road by the defendant and his predecessors in interest in hauling building material and supplies over said road to be used in the construction of defendant's said dwelling house, barns, blacksmith shop, and other out buildings, fences, and etc. well knowing that the defendant and his predecessors in interest had no other means of access to his said lands, improvements, and dwelling house, and by reason thereof the defendant alleges that the plaintiffs are estopped from now claiming that the said road is not a public road and are also estopped from now claiming that defendant has not the right to use said road for all purposes as a means of ingress to and egress from his said lands, improvements, and dwelling house.

COUNTERCLAIM.

By way of counterclaim against the said plaintiffs the defendant alleges:

1. That defendant is now and for several years last past has been the owner, in possession and entitled to the possession of the following deAll of Lots 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16, Section 1, Township 2 South, Range 3 East, S. L. M., Comprising 629 acres.

Also 120 acres in Section 12, Township 2 South, Range 3 East. Salt Lake Meredian;

Also 120 acres in Section 12, Township 2 South, Range 3 East, Salt Lake Meridian;

Also Lots 6 and 9 in Section 6, Township 2 South. Range 4 East and 520 acres in Section 7, Township 2 South, Range 4 East, Salt Lake Meridian. comprising altogether 1366 acres.

2. That said Lots 9 and 10 in Section 1, Township 2 South, Range 3 East, immediately adjoin lots 7 and 8 of said Section 1, which are the lands described in the first paragraph of plaintiffs' Complaint herein.

3. That all of the aforesaid lands are situated in what is known as "White Pine Canyon" two or three miles northwesterly from Park City, in Summit County, State of Utah.

4. That various other persons, in addition to the defendant, own other tracts of land in said White Pine Canyon both above, below and adjoining the said land owned by the defendant. That the major portion of said land is suitable solely for grazing livestock thereon, and a small

Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

portion thereof is susceptible of cultivation and suitable for the raising of hay.

The defendant alleges that he is the own-5 er, entitled to the possession and in possession of certain lands in White Pine Canyon, Summit County, State of Utah, and that various other persons are the owners of other tracts of land in said canyon, both above, below, and adjoining the said lands owned by the defendant. That there is now and has been for more than sixty years past a well traveled road up said White Pine Canyon, branching from the main State Highway and running through and beyond the said lands of the defendant and through the lands owned in said canyon by said other persons. That said road is a public highway and has been used continuously by the defendant and by his predecessors in interest and by the aforesaid owners of land in said White Pine Canyon and vicinity and by the public generally, and especially by the residents of Park City and of Summit County, State of Utah, for more than sixty years past. That the defendant does claim the right to use said road for ingress to and egress from his said land in White Pine Canyon. That said road runs through a portion of the tract of land described in the first paragraph of the plaintiffs' Complaint herein to-wit:

Lot S. Section 1, Township 2 South, Range 3 East, Salt Lake Meridian.

6. The defendant alleges that the said road referred to in paragraph 5 of this counterclaim was at the time of the commencement of this action a *public highway by prescription* and by having been used continuously, openly, notoriously, and under claim of right, by the public generally and by the defendant and by his predecessors in interest for more than twenty years.

7. The defendant alleges that he has invested more than Sixty-five Hundred (\$6500.00) Dollars in purchasing lands and improvements, including a dwelling house, and in making improvements on said land so purchased by him in said White Pine Canyon. That said lands comprise Thirteen Hundred Sixty Six (1366) acres and that the sole and only means of ingress to and egress from said lands and improvements and said dwelling house, owing to the *topography* of the country, is over the said road described in paragraph 5 of this Counterclaim, and that said road is absolutely necessary to the proper enjoyment by the defendant of his lands, improvements and dwelling house in said White Pine Canyon, and said defendant will suffer irreparable damage if he is deprived of the free use of said road for all purposes.

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