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

Further, the testimony of Heath, and defend-
ant’s Exhibit 1, each relate solely to a present way
or road — neither relate in any manner to the old
way attempted to be here claimed by the defendant;
neither is even an attempted deseription or survey
of the claimed ancient highway. Both relate to a
rnadway. the location, metes, bounds, courses, diver-
gences and distances of which are conclusively
shown by the evidence of all witnesses herein to be
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a changed roadway — not the original or claimed
way.

The law as announced in this State, and as re-
cognized in all the States, is so definite and certain
on this essential requirement, in both the pleadings
and the proof,as not to admit of argument.

The evidence, until the sur-rebuttal of the en-
gineer Heath, was as indefinite and uncertain as
were the pleadings. The evidence was in effect
along the same general line of the pleadings, namely,
that there had been a road, roads, cow-paths or
what not, up White Pine Canyon for many years.

Time and printer’s ink will not permit a re-
hashing of the testimony of the witnesses in behalf
of the counterclaimant touching the generality of
logging roads, cow-paths, ete.,, up this canyon for
fifty vears.

The testimony of the witness William Archi-
bald, covering many pages. is illustrative of the lack
of that exactness required by law to establish a pub-
lic highway. His testimony deals with roads up
and down this canyon in the early days, and years
before title by Government Patent passed to the
plaintiffs or their predecessors, and vears before
title by Government Patent passed to the defendant
or his predecessor.

That there have been wagon roads and cow
paths up and down this canyon at various points
from its earliest history, is not disputed; but cow
paths or logging roads on the south side of the creek
or even on the north side of the creek, manv rods
from the plaintiffs’ present private road, which orie-
inal logging roads and cow paths have long since
been abandoned and grown over with underbrush,
and which were established long vears before patent
passed to plaintiffs or their predecessors, can by no
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stretch of the imagination or by no stretch of the
law, furnish any foundation for declaring plaintiffs’
private road, as surveved and desoribed in the Find-
ings and Decree, a Public Highway.

Certain roads up and down these canyons were
recognized by the Government engineers at the
time the Government survey and the Government
plat were made, but not the roadway described in
the Decree complained of.

The Government field notes (Exhibit D) and
the Government rectograph copy of official plat of
Township 2 South, Range 3 East (Exhibit E), are
explained. if explanation was required, by the testi-
mony of engineer E. H. Burdick, on pages 342-350.
and map prepared by him (Exhibit F'). It will be
noted from these Government records that the
‘roads extending over Lot 8 — the land in contro-
versy — at the time of the Government survey,
about 1902, were no where near the plaintiffs’ pres-
ent private roadway as specifically deseribed by the
testimony of the engineer Heath.

We submit there is absolutely no evidence to
show that the private roadway described by the
engineer Heath has been in existence even as a pri-
vate roadway, for a period of more than five or six
vears, and during such time has been used by the
counterclaimant and his predecessors, if at all, by
means of gates and by permission of the plaintiffs
and appellants.

The roads shown on the Government rectograph
copy of plat, Exhibit E, and likewise shown by the
Government field notes, Eyhibit D, and illustrated
bv the testimony of Mr. Burdick and his plat, Ex-
hibit F, show two main traveled, well defined roads,
which bevond all reasonable doubt were the only
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evidences of roads over Lot 8 at the time of the Gov-
ernment survey. One of these roads, designated on
Exhibit F as road ‘‘A’’ approaches Lot 8 from the
north, at a point more than half the distance from
the east to the west line of Lot 8, and passes thrn
Lot 8, over the west line, and onto Lot 7. The other
road, designated as road ‘‘D’’ approaches Lot 8 on
the east boundary line thereof, and a short distance
south of the northeast corner of Lot 8, and extends
south on the south side of the creek, and passes out
of Lot 8 and onto Lot 9 about two-fifths of the dis-
tance from the east to the west line of Lot 8.

Road ““B’’ is the road that the witness Street
described as passing between the home where hig
mother died, and the creek, at the time he was a
small boy.

The evidence furnished by the Government re-
cords and the testimony of the witness Street, are
in no way contradicted by the testimony of any wit-
nesses in this case.

The witnesses on behalf of counterclaimant tell
of a road or roads ‘‘up and down’’ White Pine Can-
von. The Government plat and field notes show
two roads up and down White Pine Canyon, namely
Road ‘“A’’ and Road ‘‘B”’, neither of which are
identical with nor parallel to, nor at any point near
the road described by metes and bounds in the testi-
mony of the witness Heath, or in the plat furn-
ished by the witness Heath, nor can they be con-
strued to be in any way identified, or even connected
with the easement or public highway described in
the decree herein.

- We might dwell at length upon the character —
the "indefiniteness of the roadway up and down
White Pine Canvon as testified to by respondent’s
witnesses, but the lack of sufficient definiteness in
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such testimony ean be determined by this Court only
upon a careiul examination and perusal of the ab-
stract and original record herein, but it 1s sufficient
to say that even though the pleadings had have de-
seribed such roadway with sutticient particularity,
which they did not, the testimony of the witnesses
fell far short of making even a prima facie case for
counterclaimant and respondent.

In Volume 9, R. C. L., p. 35, Sec. 35, the rule
iz laid down that in order to obtain an easement by
prescription, the claimant must use the right of way
continnously and without variation as to the line or
roadway of the easement. The right cannot be ac-
quired to pass over a tract of land generally. It
must he confined to a specific or definite line. Citing
many cases. among which is the case of S. H. Cro-
shier v. John M. Brown, 25 L. R. A, N. S, p. 174.

In Schulerbarger v. A. H. Johnstone (Wash.),
116 Pae., 843; 35 L. R. A, \. S, p. 41, the first part
of the syllabus is as follows:

“A private right of way cannot be secured
by a preseription over uninclosed land.”’

Also see note at bottom of page 941.

The rule seems to be well fixed that the mere
permissive use by the owner to his neighbor to pass
over land and after the owner fenced, by making
gates for the convenience of the neighbor, no suffi-
cient facts in such act is found to warrant the con-
clusion that the neighbor’s use was hostile or ad-
verse to the owner, and hence could not set in mo-
tion the law of adverse possession or be invoked in
aid of the claim; of having obtained a right by pre-
seription.

In general, a private easement for a right of
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way cannot be acquired over uninclosed land unless
the use is such as to convey to the owner reasonable
notice that a claim is made hostile to him.

Where the owner of uninclosed  lands, over
which his neighbors had been in the habit of pass-
ing, left gates and bars in a fence which he erected,
that act, instead of indicating a surrender or acqui-
esence in the right of persons to pass, evidences a
different intention.

In case of Funk v. Anderson, 22 Utah, 238; 61
Pae., 1006, the rule seems to require tweuty years
to obtain a right by preseription, and the
same rule prevails in case of Rio Grande Western
Railroad v. Salt Lake Investment Company, 35
Utah, 528; 101 Paec., 586.

‘A prescriptive right to an easement can
only arise after use and enjoyment for a period
of twenty years.”” (From syllabus). ‘

Funk v. Anderson, supra.

Adverse possession can be acquired in no
other manner than that prescribed by Comp.
Laws 1907, Sec. 2866, so the title to land cannot
be acquired by prescription as at common law.”’
(From syllabus).

Rio Grande Western Railroad v. Salt Lake
Investment Co., supra.

‘“An easement in land may be acquired by
a continuous use for 20 years.”” (From sylla-
bus).

Rio Grande Western Railroad v. Salt Lake
Investment Co., supra.

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services
Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.



27

In case of Jones v. Van Boochove (Mass.), 61
N. W, 542, 1t i1s-held that where there was an ex-
press grant by an individual to a railvroad for a
right or way, the Courts will presume the abandon-
ment of the right of way when the railroad com-
pauy ook up 1ts track, its ties, and removed the
bridge that was essential to the operation of its
railroad over this easement. No definite length of
time was required to create an abandonment.

In Volume 6, Fed. Statutes Ann., p. 498, Sec.
2477, under subdivision 13, entitled “RIGHT OF
WAY OVER PUBLIC LANDS,” a very brief en-
actment made July 26, 1366, seeks to give a right
o way for construction of highways over public
lands. The foot-notes to this section are very elab-
orate, and it seems that the Supreme Court of Ore-
gon, in the case of Wallowa County v. Wade, 43
Ore., 253. attempt to construe what the 1. S. Con-
gress meant by the above section.

There seem to be a great many citations on
page 199 of =aid Vol. 6, Fed. Statutes, where various
northwestern States have sought to get some mean-
ing to the section above referred to.

¢ Under Comp. Laws 1907, Sec. 1115, pro-
viding that a highway shall be deemed to have
been dedicated to the use of the public when
continnously ‘used as a publie:thoroughfare for
ten years, use under private right is insuffi-
cient to show dedication, and such use, however
long, does not make the way public, and the
mere fact. that the public also use it without
objection from the owner will not make the way
public.”” (From syllabus).

Morris v. Blunt, et-al., 49 Utah, 243;
161 Pae., 1127.
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‘“ A prescriptive easement does not arise
in seven years by analogy to the statute barring
action to recover realty when a plaintiff was
not seized of the property within seven years,
such statutes not applying to rights of way or
easements, but prescriptive right can arise only
by adverse use and enjoyment under claim of
right wuninterrupted and continuous for 20
years.”” (From syllabus).

Morris v. Blunt, supra.

‘¢ Hvidence held insufficient to show aec-
quisition of highway easement by prescription;
the use having been interrupted at various
times during the alleged prescriptive period.”
(From syllabus).

Morris v. Blunt, supra.

‘A claim to a right of way by prescription
cannot be supported where the way has been
allowed as a matter of accommodation, and
claimant’s use of it has not been such as to
give the landowner notice of an adverse user.”’
(From syllabus).

Lapique v. Morrison (Cal.) 154 P., 881.

¢ Where defendant and his tenants had
been in the habit of passing over an uninclosed
strip of plaintiff’s land for eight years, but had
never claimed that they had the right to use
the land to plaintiff or his grantor, a finding
that defendant had not a preseriptive right to
the use of a way over the land should not be
disturbed.”” (From syllabus).

Clarke v. Clarke (Cal.) 66 Pac., 10.

¢ The allegations of a complaint in a suit
to enjoin interference with the use of land did
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not show a right based on dedication, where it
alleged merely that for 30 years plaintifls, their
predecessors, and the public had openly used
the land as a highway.” (From syllabus).

Farr et al. v. Wheelwright Const. Co.,
49 Urah, 274; 163 Pac., 256.

** The complaint in an action to enjoin in-
terference with the use of land as a highway
did not show a right based on adverse user,
where it did not allege that the use of the land
was adverse and under a claim of right.”’
(From syllabus).

Farr etal v. Wheelwright Const., Co.,
.sSupra.

Easzement by prescription must be acquired by
twenty vears’ user after patent issues, as no
prescriptive rights can be acquired against the
United States.

Lund v. Wileox, 34 Utah, 205; 97 P., 33.

A preseriptive easement arises only by an ad-
verse use and enjoyment thereof, continuous
and and uninterrupted for twenty years under
a claim of right.

Harkness v. Woodmansee, 7 Utah, 227;
26 P., 291.

Yeager v. Woodruff, 17 Utah, 361: 53
P., 1045.

Coleman v. Hines, 24 Utah, 360; 67 P,
1122,

““ In order to acquire a private easement
in the nature of a right of way over the lands
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of another, the claimant must have used the
same openly, continuously, and adversely for
20 years, during all of whith time the title to
the land over which the easement is claimed
must have been out of the United States.”
(From syllabus).

Bolton v. Murphy, 41 Utah, 591;
127 P., 335.

“ The use, for more than 100 years, of a
well-known and well-defined roadway from a
public road to a great pond, by hunters, fisher-
men, picnic parties, celebrators on public oc-
casions, and by whomsoever chose, without ob-
jection and without obstruction, does not estab-
lish a way by prescription or dedication, where
1t does not appear that such use was not with
the express or implied permission of the owners
of the land.

Acceeptance by public authorities is neces-
sary to create a public way by dedication.”
(From syllabus).

Slater v. Gunn (Mass.) 41 L. R. A., 268.

““ Mere user of a right of way over an-
other’s land, who had knowledge thercof for
a period of 33 years, but without claim of right
or title, is insufficient to establish a right of
way by prescription, under Code, Sec. 3004,
providing that the use of an easement is not
evidence of a claim of right, but the fact of ad-
verse possession must be established by evi-
dence independent of use, ete.”” (From sylla-
bus).

MecBride v. Bair (Iowa) 112 N'W., 168.

“A vested right to a right of way may he
acquired by use for a sufficient length of time.
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It must be oecupied and used as a right, and not
merely as a favor er privilege granted by the
owner of the servient lands.”

Johmson v. Lewils, 14 S. W, 466;
47 Ark., 66.

‘‘An easement by prescription cannot arise
out of an agreement, license or mere neigh-
borly accommodation, but must be acquired
adversely.”’ (From svllabus).

Pinheiro v. Bettencourt (Cal)

118 P.. 941.

**Where defendant. before acquiring a right
of way over plaintiff's land, by prescription,
made a material deviation from the previously
traveled way to avoid a washout in the old way,
such deviation broke the continuity of the use
required by law to establish the prescriptive
right.”’ (From svllabus).

Lund v. Wileox, 64 Ttah, 205; 97 Pac., 33.

Justice Frick, speaking for this Court in Lund
v. Wileox, supra. very aptly, clearly and concisely
stated the rule that has come down to us from the
statutes and adjudicated cases in the various States
for the last half century, in the following language:

‘¢ There is another reason why respondent
cannot be decreed a right of way over appel-
lant’s land. As we have pointed out, the road-
way was changed in 1900. This change broke
the continmity of the use by respondent. Jones,
in his excellent work on Easements, in scction
295, states the law upon this point as follows:
¢ A preseriptive right of way cannot be acquired
by tacking together two distinet periods of use
of two separate ways, though one was aban-
doned for the other with the consent of the

’
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landowner, and the two periods together would
amount to the prescriptive time requisite to
give a prescriptive right of way. It is essential
that the use should relate stricty to the identi-
cal way over which the right is claimed. A way
imports a right of passing in a particular line,
and not everywhere, over the land upon which
the right may be claimed.” This does not mean
that a person using the right of way may not
deviate at all from the traveled rut or track,
to the extent, at least, that this may become
necessary in a reasonable use of the right of
way; but it does mean that the claimant may
not abandon one track or right of way and adopt
another. In Kurtz v. Hoke, 172 Pa., 165; 33
Atl., 549, it 1s held that a variation of 20 feet
from the traveled road is fatal to continuity of
use. It is generally held by the Courts that a
deviation such as occurred in the case at bar
destroys the continuity of use required by law.
The rule is illustrated and applied in the fol-
lowing cases: Owens v. Crossett, 105 LI, 354;
Brvan v. East St. Louis. 12 Ill. App., 390;
Peters v. Little, 95 Ga., 151, 22 S. E., 44; Yol
lendore v. Thomas, 93 Ga., 300, 20 S. K., 329.”’

¢ A use under a mere license will not ripen
intr an easement by prescription.”” (From

syllabus). !
Phoenix Ins. Co. v. Haskett (Kan)
67 P., 446.

See: Marazzani v. United States Fuel
Co., 65 Utah, 123; 234 Pac., 531.

Barboglio v. Gibson, 61 Utah, 314; 213
Pac., 385.

Schettler et al. v. Liynch, 23 Utah, 305;
64 P., 955.
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In case of Wild v. Deig et al., 43 Ind., 453, the
Court quotes Cooley Const. Lin., p. 030, as tollows:

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